Editorial:
AT LEAST WE HAVE TRIED!
 For the first time Human Rights Defenders (HRDs) meet was organized in the J&K state, by the PCHR, a constituent of Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS), in which 51 HRDs within and outside state participated and deliberated over their safety measures. In J&K the state sponsored conferences on different political or economical issues are being organized from last 2-3 years, to impress normalcy has been restored.  Besides state, NGOs which have proliferated with the support of state are also holding conferences on different issues inviting activists from different parts of India and sometimes outside India. When the idea was conceived there were friendly advices whether holding such conference in the conflict area is wise, as it will prove a red rag to bull but the dominant view was that the conference should be held in the conflict area. These conferences will invite attention about the issues outside the country and will send signal to the perpetrators about the collective struggle of the HRDs. It was further observed there is no sense in holding such meetings in metropolitan cities like Delhi where such conference would go unnoticed, as the daily conferences are held there on different issues. The press already ignores such initiatives taken by any Kashmiri group. 

Of course, holding such conference in the conflict area required some boldness. The organizers invited selective activists from different conflict areas of India (1/3 of India is reeling under armed conflict including 160 Naxalites dominated districts) who are grass root human rights defenders not ngoists, having commitment to the cause for which they are risking their lives in their respective areas and some of them have fallen as unsung heroes. There was good response from the participants coming from different parts of India mostly from north and naxalites dominated areas. The three day deliberation provided also an opportunity to exchange the information regarding the political situation of different areas and the modes operandi of the perpetrators to strangulate, persecute, and discredit the HRDs. To the surprise of the participants it was found the modus operandi of the state is same to undermine the political movements. If in Kashmir there are Ikhwanis (renegades) in south there are groups like Tigers, Cobra groups, Salwa Judum etc. These groups are working as extension of the law enforcing agencies and are part of the states policy of the privatization of the human rights violations. 

To our amusement, we were informed that for the first time the Manipuri and Naga delegates in any meeting has not being critical to each other, as they used to be in other meetings over the issue of greater Nagaland (of course a success story of Govt. of India). Though our friends from other conflicting areas envied the Kashmiri activists for the bold initiative of holding such meetings and also for the international attention Kashmir issue receives comparing their areas where there also are national liberations movements but there is least international engagement, with the result the state has there become more brutal and human rights defenders have almost on the run. 


The deliberations of the meeting was indoor and kept away from the media but it’s not surprising that on the second day one of the participants from Doda was abducted at evening while coming out from a hotel for some purchasing. The abductors believed to be renegades working for the army of cantonment had threatened the activist whether he is working with the Editor, a portion his beard was shaved and later he was thrown at Nishat at a deserted place at evening, a district of 10 km away from the venue. The thoroughly scared activist, after managing to return back to hotel, caused alarm to the other participants. Though an FIR was filed but the message was very clear about holding such conferences. The state intelligence learned about the conference after it was over. We learnt that they were taken aback and the explanation was issued to the junior employees. Understandingly, the state is paranoid about such meetings particularly the meetings of the activist of the conflicting areas. Notwithstanding, the participants adopted a resolution on the 3-day and a human rights defenders network was formulated for taking the collective action for the security and defence of the HRDs. Further, it was resolved that there will be annual meetings of the HRDs in next year in Kashmir followed by meeting in other conflict zones. It was also decided that HRDs network would be constituted of the non-funded human rights defenders and funding should be made on voluntary basis as majority of the participants expressed their resentment against ngoisation of the human rights organization in India.


Whether this initiative succeeds or not we don’t know. Already, in past there have been some HRDs meetings organized by the Amnesty International in India in year 2000, with a plan of action and follow which didn’t realize. But at least we attempted to provide a platform for HRDs, based on our experience we believe that the International and Regional Conventions / Mechanisms / Charters are meaningless and purposeless. It is the HRDs themselves who are working in the conflict areas while watching their backs or virtually walking on mine fields to uphold truth and expose the lies, to innovate, ways, means and strategies for their safety. Their only collective strength can minimize the risk they are facing from the government and non-state actors. 

HUMAN RIGHTS DEFENDERS MEET 

Feeling a need to establish a network between the Human Right Defenders (HRDs) working in the different places across the subcontinent, Public Commission for Human Rights (PCHR), a constituent member of Jammu & Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) organized three day long ‘Human Right Defenders Meet (HRDM)’ programme at Srinagar from May 4, 2007 to May 6, 2007. The programme was attended by following fifty participants from different states of India and parts of Jammu Kashmir.

Shaiq Khan, an active member of JKCCS and International Campaign To Ban Landmines, ICBL started with the purpose of the HRDM and said, “keeping in views the threat to human rights defenders in various parts of subcontinent, PCHR envisage initiate and evolve a mechanism of cooperation amongst Human Rights Defenders struggling in different regions and conflict zones of the sub-continent.” While defining the broad objective of the meet Shaiq put the objectives in the following points:

1. Sharing of experience on threats /risks to human rights activism, particularly the intimidation and obstacles faced by HRDs in India/South Asia. 

2. Discuss the protection and support mechanism available for human rights defenders at local, regional and international levels.

3. Share and evolve techniques that defenders can use to address threats and obstacles that they face –including HRDs’ past effective experiences.

4. Develop a campaign strategy to sensitize the government, to uphold their responsibility to protect and foster human rights defense mechanism. 

5. Initiate a coalition of HRDs to provide mutual support and to campaign for an improved climate of human rights activism.

Zahiruddin, a working journalist and an executive member of JKCCS gave a brief introduction about the problems like abductions, killings, and implication of false cases that Kashmiris and others faced in their day-to-day life. 

 Parvez Imroz, President JKCCS delivered a keynote address and said, “It is the first time when the Kashmiris HRDs and the people from North East and South Indian State shared their experiences of exploitations, pains and sufferings perpetuated by states.  While speaking on human rights violation in Kashmir the president said, “The valley witnessed the killings of three prominent Human Rights activist which includes Jaleel Andrabi, Dr. Ashai and H.N Wanchoo and several others have been attacked including me in past.  One major Avtar Singh facing charges for killing Jaleel Andrabi is still at large at Canada despite of the court orders that his passport should be impounded.” 

The representatives belonging to different regions of India highlighted the current scenario of their states and the problems, which they faced in their day-to-day life starting with Manipur.

MANIPUR 

Babloo Loitongbam (Executive Director Human Rights Alert Manipur) said, “ The issue of North East has been ignored by international community since from its beginning but it achieved an international recognition after Manipur's prominent human rights activist Irom Sharmila has been nominated for Kwanghu award which will be given to the same on May 18 2007.Irom Sharmila is on hunger strike from past six years unto death, only surviving on nasal feeding, since the incident of Malom Massacre where ten civilians including women and children were killed by 8th Army rifle on 2nd November 2000, while protesting against colonial acts”. Whereas Phulindro Konsam, member of COHR, spoke on the role of human rights defenders in Manipur and said, “human rights activists strongly condemned the undemocratic policy of the government of India quite contrary to the democratic and peaceful demand of the people Manipur for an end to human rights violations that continues since 1950s and for delivering justice”. 


NAGALAND

 Joyson Mazamo, NPMHR, Nagaland presented the state condition that Nagas face on the part of Indian Army, “Indian army portrays as the supporter and guards of Naga people but in reality they made their life harsh”. The major part of his presentation dealt with the role of human right defenders in securing the fundamental rights of people. While speaking on peace talks between Nagas and government of India, joyson said, “

Government is trying to put pressure on the civilians as well as Human Rights Defenders to accept their terms and conditions”.

TRIPURA 

Anthony Deburma from Tripura, while narrating the role of human rights defenders, “We are fighting for the fundamental rights of people for which we face lots of problems even many human rights defenders become the target of Indian Forces, they were arrested, tortured and most of their documentation material got seized at times”. 

DELHI 

Moushumi Basu, PUDR, said , “ Delhi is fortunate because their does not exist any such havoc situation presented in previous presentations but when ever there exists any violation regarding human rights , we become more active”. 

“ From last fifteen years many stereotype images were posed on the citizens of Jammu and Kashmir and other North East parts of India, on their part human rights defenders are not allowed to work, if they play any role in their favor they are labeled as anti nationalists”, said Moushumi. “In addition to that so many arrests were made under official security act after post 9/11”, adds Moushmi.

 WEST BENGAL

Sujato Bhadro, APDR said, “We have political criminals in West Bengal, who torture innocents to death”. He further said a boy was tortured to death because he refused to pay jail personnel’s. There are incidents of police firing in which children of very young age had killed including others. But nothing had happened, no police officials were punished. All the strategies and the policies of the government favor the state police. 

JAMMU KASHMIR

The last presentation was from different Kashmiri activists, Parvez Imroz, president of PCHR, Riyasat Amin PCHR, Naseer Khora Doda Peace Forum PFFP, Abdul Rasheed Zargar PCHR, Gulshan Begum and Tahira Begum from APDP.

Parvez Imroz stated, “Human right defenders faced countless problems while documenting the human rights. He narrated the role of PCHR/APDP where victims themselves are persuaded to become pro-active and agents of change”. Naseer on the other hand presented the situation of Doda, about 200 km away from Srinagar. Doda is in the hub of violence and considered his native land as the most unfortunate area where human right exploitation is on its peak. He further said no media or human right group is allowed work in Doda province.

 
Similarly the other participants like Riyasat and Abdul Rashid from Poonch (500 kilometers from Srinagar) narrated their experiences with the other members of seminar what they received as a human rights defenders. And he was confronted by officers of the army several times for highlighting human right abuses in his area and ultimately army killed his nephew. Whereas Gulshan and Tahira narrated their personal stories which led them to join APDP and became its executive members. 

On the second day of the HRDM, human rights defenders from various parts of India presented their vision statement regarding the human rights situation in different conflict zones of India.  

In his deliberations on human Rights situation in Andhra Pradesh K. Balagopal of Human Rights Forum (HRF), Andhra Pradesh talked about the impunity enjoyed by the armed forces through Disturbed Areas Act in the State. He stated that the provisions laid down in the AFSPA (Armed Forces Special Powers Act) are also included in Disturbed Area Act and through both the laws arbitrary violence is committed to the people. 

Defining Impunity he said that impunity is a power given to the armed forces by different laws but in the real sense it cannot be called power it is a lawless power which is conferred by the government in accordance with the legal authorities of the country.  Adding to the impunity he said that impunity is an instrument to kill the people or subject them to other kind of violations. Indian states always rely on lawless laws that enhance the troubles of the people.

Pointing towards the human rights abuse he pronounced that in different conflict areas including Andhra Pradesh and Jammu and Kashmir there are Incognito or unknown forces vested with impunity who perpetrate different violations. In such cases we cannot recognize the offenders, their agencies or even their ranks so as to go for legal action against them. The government creates these forces and granting laws of impunity to such agencies is unconstitutional. These in-cognito forces terrorize Human rights defenders as ensues in AP where armed forces named as Cobra’s and Tiger’s intimidate Human Rights defenders. National human rights commission and state human rights commissions does not investigate the case of human rights abuses which are committed by the state sponsored forces because their view points coincide with government. Concluding he said that human rights defenders should be effective and safe. If Defenders are threatened, common people should raise voice for their safety because human rights defenders exert for the welfare of the people and talking against somebody’s privileges. He added that best defense for HRD is credibility amongst public. 

DISCUSSION

In the discussion after Balagopal’s note different activists, Sujato Badro, Bikram Jeet Batra, Professor G.K. Ramasamy, Joseph Hmar and Phulindro konsam gave their interpretation over the Balgopal’s speech.

Sujato Badro said that state make allegations against human rights activists to keep them silent. Professor Ramasamy in a suggestion said that NGO’s should play a greater role in advocating the human rights where as Joseph Hmar argued that there are human rights organizations, which take more interest in political issues rather than human values. Human rights defenders should be least political and focused. New organizations are coming up and people have to look that how they consider the human values added Joseph. Phulindro Konsam discussed that we have to understand the causes and reasons of Human rights violations. There are groups demanding freedom for which gross violations of human rights are resulted but there other kinds of human rights violations like socio-economic and cultural rights violations for which organizations have to take stand.

Following the discussion Advocate D. Suresh Kumar of Andhra Pradesh Civil Liberties Committee (APCLC), Andhra Pradesh in his presentation spoke about the persecutions inflicted upon different activists. It is not the human rights defenders only who face problems there are other activists who also face intricacies while executing their duties. In Andhra Pradesh there is a new trend of killing mass organization activist in fake encounters apart from custodial killings and other kinds of violations. Tiger’s (armed forces) in Andhra Pradesh can kill any mass organization activist as Telangana trader was killed. Cobra armed forces are prevalent in AP state. On one side Naxal’s are killed in fake encounters and on the other side activists of different mass organizations are killed by the government in the name of Cobra’s. In a recent case two boys were picked up by police and were implicated in the case of killing of an MLA’s both the boys got disappear in custody. We have to develop a mechanism so as to extricate from the problems faced by the defenders of human rights.

In another presentation Dr. V.S. Sreedhar of People’s Democratic Forum (PDF), Karnataka talked about the Naxalite movement and communalism in Karnataka. He in his statement said that since 2001 there is an upsurge in the Naxalite movement and on the other hand communalism is fighting communal forces in the state. PDF has a political position and raises voice against the communalism. 

In the last presentation, Bela Bhatia of Centre for the Study of Developing Societies (CSDS), New Delhi shared her experiences of south Chattisgarh where ‘Salwa judum’ a newest counter insurgency operation is going on. Salwa judum is a phenomenon created by the government to counter insurgency by providing arms to the opponents of Maoists and letting them lose on society. Salwa Judum in other conflict areas is called village defense committees. She said, “The unusual feature of the Salva Judum movement is that around 2000-3000 youngsters were armed. Besides CRPF, Police and SPOs young people in civvies are deployed to counter insurgency.


 Bela added, “About 32-36 Salwa Judum camps are installed in the northern districts of Chattisgarh”. 

After the presentation session, discussion on ‘Need for an Alliance of Human Rights Defenders in Asia’ was held which was followed by the segment of ‘Strategies-solidarity initiatives, networking, training and meeting’ in which Bikram Batra of New Delhi said, “As per safety of human rights defender is concerned, the best form of defense is people’s support and alliance should be made to strengthen human rights organizations. We have to build an alliance that should extend up to south Asia or even through the whole Asia continent. The alliance should be open for individuals as well as organizations”.

Parvez Imroz also said, “Credibility of a human rights defender could be a protection for of HRD. But the government is targeting the credibility of the organizations and individuals. The government is very smart in targeting the credibility and from the last 8-10 years there is a proliferation of GONGOs”.

The other participants also presented their ideas during the session. 

                 On the 3rd day of the HRDM, all the participants discussed the strategies through which effective network is established between the human rights defenders working across the sub -continent and finally a resolution was passed by the participants.

Resolution    

 The participant organizations and individuals who participated in the three day meet of Human Rights Defenders at Srinagar deliberated on the repeated instances of assault, obstructions and risks that human rights defenders are being subjected to by the State agencies, and the need to create a broad-based alliance of human rights defenders to effectively counter the same and resolved as follows:

Recognizing that

1. Persons working in defense of people’s rights are being subjected to attacks and obstructions by State agencies in all countries; 

2. Organisations to which such activists belong, and the local society, are often unable to provide adequate protection/assistance to such activists which results in crippling human rights activism.

It is therefore resolved that

1. It is desirable to have a coalition or alliance of human rights defenders which would provide protection/assistance to such activists;

2. The coalition/alliance would consist of organizations and individuals working for human rights in Asian countries;

3. The initial agenda of the coalition/alliance would be to exchange information about and respond to attacks on human rights defenders as well as threats at the individual and collective levels;

4. However, the coalition/alliance would also exchange information and reports about human rights violations in general, and in the future may take up fact-finding missions and protest activity jointly;

5. The coalition/alliance would meet annually;

6. The coalition/alliance is provisionally named: Asian Human Rights Defenders Network.

7. An Ad-hoc committee of the following organizations and individuals is hereby constituted to contact other organizations and individuals that have not attended this conference as well as other organizations and individuals from other Asian countries to complete the process.

The Ad-hoc committee consists of Association for the Protection of Democratic Rights (APDR, West Bengal), Delhi Support Group, Human Rights Alert (HRA, Manipur), Human Rights Forum (HRF, Andhra Pradesh), Jammu Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (J&K), Naga Peoples’ Movement for Human Rights (NPMHR, Nagaland), People’s Democratic Forum (PDF, Karnataka), People’s Union for Democratic Rights (PUDR, Delhi), Sinlung Indigenous People’s Human Rights Organisations (SIPHRO, Manipur) and Bela Bhatia (Delhi).

PAPA KISHTWARI – MAN OF TERROR

The systematic and institutional use of state sponsored counter insurgents in Jammu & Kashmir by Indian Government and armed forces started in 1995. These counter insurgents are usually the surrendered militants called ‘renegades’, used to assassinate the members of militant organizations or other pro-freedom political groups. Armed and organized by the Indian army, they have been responsible for many grave human rights abuses like summary executions of innocent civilians, enforced disappearances, torture, and illegal detention. They extorted billions of rupees from civilians at gunpoint and occupied their properties illegally. Majority of the crimes committed by renegades are not registered in the police stations. Therefore, the police has conducted no serious investigations. Instead, the government and its functionaries including the armed forces openly shield them. 

One example of such terror is Ghulam Mohammad Lone (Moma Lone) alias Papa Kishtwari - a pro-government militant turned politician.  

From past twelve years, residents of Pampore, Pulwama and its adjoining areas have been silent victims of this murderer and extortionist. According to them, Kishtwari has committed more than one hundred murders in the past twelve years and set ablaze scores of houses, leaving many families homeless. He also extorted millions of rupees from civilians at gunpoint. Besides that, he got a large number of trees cut from the premises of Charyar shrine. Police not only remained as mute spectators to the violations conducted by him but also provided a helping hand.  

On April 29, 2007, counter-insurgent Papa Kishtwari encroached upon a part of the local graveyard at Pampore. He was trying to sell it off to SAIFCO flourmills (a major Kashmiri business house), which needed an approach road. Before he could sell it off, people of the area raised an alarm and started to protest against his evil deed. Hundreds of residents from the Pampore area gathered on the highway and blocked the traffic in the forenoon. They boldly protested against Kishtwari’s alleged acts. Police arrested Kishtwari when protesters tried to storm his home. His guards (a group of state police and CRPF troopers) came to his rescue and fired indiscriminately at the angry protesters and injured nine persons.  

During the protest Mirwaiz Moulana Riyaz Hamadani, a prominent religious figure and a resident of Pampore said, “Kishtwari has made the lives of the residents of Pampore a hell for a very long time. Allowing such persons to move freely imperils the peace. In addition, after subjecting people to extreme hardships, now people like Kishtwari wanted to usurp the community properties like graveyards.”

Around 80 FIRs have been registered so far in different police stations in which Kishtwari is involved. But irony is that most of the survivors lodged the reports without mentioning guilty Kishtwari - the main culprit’s name because of the fear of Kishtwari’s wrath. Therefore, police did not conduct any investigation against this counter insurgent. 

On May 5, 2007, another shutdown was observed in the valley against Kishtwari. People surged into the streets after Friday prayers and shouted slogans, demanding stern punishment for Kishtwari. They made their way through Kadlabal, Pampore and staged demonstrations on the main road. They decried the encroachment of public land and raised their voice against the human rights violation committed by Kishtwari. 

One protestor, Ali Muhammad Khan said that Kishtwari has made life miserable for local residents. He accused the former Ikhwani Kishtwari of abducting and killing of “scores of innocent people.” Whereas another demonstrator, Mohammad Akram told that Kishtwari had extorted crores of rupees from the locals of the area. “He was working for the security forces and killed many youth of the area without any provocation.”

 The protestors demand fresh investigations into all cases against Kishtwari so that the “professional killer,” could be brought to the justice. Appealing to judiciary not to come under any pressure to release Kishtwari, the demonstrators called upon the authorities to launch a swift probe over his illegal activities.  

Before the onset of militancy in 1990, Kishtwari was an employee in joinery mill at Pampore and then joined CRPF. He joined Al-Jehad militant outfit in 1990 as a commanding officer. In 1993, Kishtwari was arrested by Indian army and was detained for about 21 months (1993-1995). After his release he joined Kuka Parray’s Ikhwan-ul Muslimoon (Muslim Brotherhood), a counter insurgent group and later joined Awami League, a political party of renegades.  

    
   In 1996, Kishtwari floated a political party Tehreek-e-Watan. He contested the state polls in the same year but failed. Again, in 1997, he and his wife Hafiza contested elections but botched to secure good number of votes.

During an interview with Media Watch in 1998 Kishtwari once said, “We [the counter insurgents] were brought out to crush the militants. We work with the army as informers in operations, an activity for which we get some money. I have 366 men working for me in Kashmir. We go along with army personnel when they receive information that a certain militant is hiding in some place. We assist in the arrest, and if there is an encounter, we fight. We paved the way for the 1996 elections in Jammu and Kashmir. Now I am a politician.”

     
Today his wife Hafiza is a Municipal councilor where as Kishtwari is a member of National Conference (a political party).

Kishtwari and his group are responsible for many extrajudicial executions. The residents of Pampore and the Association of Saffron Growers & Dealers (NGO) of Pampore circulated the list of 24 civilians killed by Kishtwari.

	  S/no
	Name
	Parentage
	Residence
	Date of Death
	Occupation
	Age 

	01.
	Pir Zubair Ahmad Shah
	Pir  Sharif-u-Din Shah 
	Namblabal Pampore
	24th,February, 1996
	Student 
	24 Years

	02.
	Sheikh Gulam Rasool
	Mohammed Shaban Sheikh
	Namblabal Pampore
	18th March,

1996
	Journalist and General Sectary of Saffron Times 
	40 Years

	03.
	Shakeela Banu
	Gulam Rasool Sofi 
	Namblabal Pampore
	8th November, 1995
	House Wife
	26 Years

	04.
	Fayaz Ahmad Wani
	Gulam Rasool Wani
	Tulibagh Pampore
	5th January,

1995
	Contractor 
	35 Years

	05.
	Muhammad Shafi Gannai
	Gulam Qadir Ganai
	Tulibagh Pampore
	 1994
	Driver 
	24 Years

	06.
	Irshad Ahmad Bhat 
	Gulam Ahmed Bhat (Amma Kaloo)
	Tulibagh Pampore
	8th November,

1995
	Laborer 
	26 Years

	07.
	Farooq Ahmad Chadth
	Gulam Hassan Chadth
	Namblabal Pampore
	13th February, 

1996
	Driver
	25 Years

	08.
	Manzoor Ahmed Wani (Bita)
	Haji Gulam Hassan Wani
	Namblabal Pampore
	28th June,

2001
	Businessman
	33 Years

	09.
	Muhammad Shaban Dar
	Gulam Qadir Dar
	Namblabal Pampore
	10th Jan,

1994
	Government Employer 
	55 Years

	10.
	Mehraj-u-Din Sheikh
	Mohammed Sultan Sheikh 
	Namblabal Pampore
	16th June,

1993
	Civilian 
	35 Years

	11.
	Abdul Samad Dar 
	Mohammed Sultan Dar
	Frastlbal Pampore
	6th January,

1996
	Civilian 
	52 Years

	12.
	Gulam Hassan Mir 
	Gulam Mohammed Mir 
	Frastlbal Pampore
	6th January,

1996
	Farmer
	50 Years

	13.
	Abdul Rashid Khan
	Mohammed Ramzan Khan
	Drangibal

Pampore
	6th January, 1996
	Laborer
	24 Years

	14.
	Bashir Ahnad Hajjam
	Gulam Mohammad Hajjam
	Dohbimahali

Kadlibal
	
	Student
	22 Years

	15.
	Mohiudin Ganai
	Haji Abdul Salaam Ganai
	Chandhara
	7th May, 1999
	Saffron Businessman
	52

Years

	16.
	Mohiudin Rigoo (Advocate)
	Abdul Rahim Rigoo 
	Chandhara
	3rd February, 1995
	Advocate
	50 Years

	17.
	Habibullah Dar
	Abdul Ahad Dar 
	Khanmouh

Srinagar 
	5th May, 1996
	Civilian 
	60 Years

	18.
	Pir Bashir Ahmad 
	Pir Gulam Mohammed 
	Khanmouh

Srinagar
	5th May, 1996
	Businessman
	35 Years

	19.
	Bashir Ahmad Bhat
	Gulam Nabi Bhat
	Khanmouh

Srinagar
	5th May, 1996
	Govt. Employee 
	36 Years

	20.
	Haji  Amma Rather 
	Haji Qadir Rather 
	Munparvan 
	    2002
	Businessman 
	52 Years

	21.
	Javaid Ahmad Zargar (Beti) 
	Gulam Ahmad Zargar
	Khanbal Pampore
	28th April, 2003
	Goldsmith 
	45 Years

	22.
	Ali Muhammad Mir
	
	Brain Nishat, 
	29th June,

1994
	Contractor 
	54 Years

	23.
	Arshad Ahmed Gannai
	Gulam Nabi Ganai 
	Chandhara
	29th December,

1998
	Employ SAIFCO Mill
	22  Years

	24.
	Abdul Samad Bhat
	Ashur Bhat
	Drangbal

Pampore
	1996
	Civilian
	60 Years


PAPA KISHTWARI INVOLVED IN MURDER CASES 

The High Court on May 11 directed the police to file a status report in an 11-year-old murder case involving Papa Kishtwari. Justice Mansoor Ahmad Mir passed the directions in the case of contractor Ali Muhammad Mir, 45, son of Haji Rajab Mir of Brain Nishat who was abducted and later murdered allegedly by Kishtwari on June 29, 1996. 

On June 26, 1996, Mir left his home for Dalgate for purchasing medicines for his ailing father. Since after his whereabouts are not visible. The family searched Mir at every nook and corner but of no avail. “I searched my father at every possible place but couldn’t locate him. I approached Kishtwari also to know his whereabouts but Kishtwari did not provide any relevant information about him,” said Zahoor Ahmad Mir son of Ali Mohammad Mir. Kishtwari was harassing Mir from many days. He was demanding three lakh rupees as a donation for contesting parliamentary election of 1996. However, Mir refused to give him any money, disclosed Zahoor Mir.

Failing to trace him out, on June 29, 1996, Zahoor lodged a missing report in the concerned police station Nishat. However, the police conducted non-serious investigation in searching Mir. In order to cover up the matter police stated in the lodged missing report that Ali Mohammad Mir was mentally unfit. Later his son Zahoor challenged the report, made police to change their statement, and lodged another missing report. 

Zahoor failed to get any significant information about his disappeared father Mir in first three years. On one hand, investigation conducted by police was sluggish and on other hand, Kishtwari took thousands of rupees from Zahoor for providing information about his missing father. 

However, in 1999, a member of Kishtwari’s counter insurgent group namely Nazir Ahmad Sheikh had a brawl with the other members of group. Nazir son of Mohammad Sultan Sheikh, resident of Harwan approached the Police Station Nishat and informed police that Kishtwari along with many other renegades murdered Ali Mohammed Mir, resident of Brain, Nishat. In the statement given to police, Nazir stated that on June 26, 1996, he saw the missing person in the camp of Kishtwari. On the next day, Kishtwari and his associate Mohammed Maqbool Sheikh alias Maga Watloo murdered Mir. In the intervening night of 27th and 28th of June, the body was thrown into the river Jehlum. 

Shortly after that, Police arrested Maqbool and on stern investigation, he accepted the abduction and murder of Mir. He also disclosed the names of involved renegades including their chief Kishtwari.  

 
 Mir was abducted and killed because he was not willing to donate the three-lakh rupees to Kishtwari for contesting parliamentary elections. The renegade Maqbool kidnapped Mir on June 26, 1996, from Brain, Nishat. On the same day, he delivered Mir to Ikhwani group members Gulzar Ahmed Ganie, Khurshed Ahmed Mir, and Bashir Ahmed Dar at ShivPora from where he was taken to the camp of Kishtwari. He was subjected to various forms of torture. On next day, Kishtwari and his men killed him. They threw his body into the river Jehlum, divulged renegade Maqbool to police and Zahoor Ahmad.

Except Kishtwari all the involved renegades were arrested. All the arrested renegades were detained for a period of forty days. After that, police released them one by one but without any court order or any other action. Zahoor believes Kishtwari bribed SHO, Nishat who stopped the investigation against the culprits. 

From the past ten years, Zahoor and his family approached many authorities, knocked the door of every concerned official but all proved futile. He also filed a writ petition at High Court 40/2007, against police inaction and sought mandamus for directing the police for holding investigation into the disappearance/ murder of his father. Based on his writ petition, polices send a report to Court admitting the involvement of two renegades into the abduction of his father in June 1996. The court further directed police for submitting status report before the court within three weeks. However, the missing report was lodged but after the entrance of petition, police lodged an FIR 16/2007 and submitted to the court. 

Police in his status report further admitted that two persons namely Nazir Ahmad Sheikh and Mohammad Maqbool Sheikh are not available for interrogation and investigation. The case is going on war footing. During the case trials, Zahoor Ahmad felt threatened by the associates of Kishtwari and sort protection from the court and court on dated 29th March 2007 directed the state to ensure that petitioner was not subjected to any harassment from any quarter. Finally, the petition was disposed with the direction to state to complete investigation within two months time.
 
When Kishtwari was produced before a court in Pulwama in other criminal case, Zahoor said his wife Hafeeza offered him money to withdraw the case. “She offered me rupees 10 lakh to forgive Kishtwari. But I declined and vowed to fight till he gets punishment for murdering my father.”

On May 25, Pulwama court ordered to reopen another murder case committed by Kishtwari in 1996. On May 7, Nisar Ahmad Dar, son of Abdul Samad Dar, resident of Frestabal, Pampore filed an application with the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Shopian saying that Kishtwari killed his father on January 6, 1996. “Papa Kishtwari along with 10-12 men of his group barged into our house. Kishtiwari has been demanding Rs. 10 – 12 lakhs from my fathter (Abdul Samad), which he refused. Due to the reason he (Kishtwari) dragged my father out, and then killed him in cold-blood,” Nisar said. 

Kishtwari did not stop there. After killing Abdul Samad Dar, Kishtwari sprinkled kerosene on Nisar’s house and set it ablaze. Nisar said,” he did not register a compliant against Kishtwari who had then unleashed a reign of terror across the south Kashmir, particularly in the saffron town Pampore. Besides that Kishtwari had threatened him of dire consequences in case he reported the matter to police.”

 Meanwhile, when the cases against Kishtwari came up and people lodged massive protests against him, Nisar approached the CJM, Shopian who sought details about the case from the police. Police said it had registered FIR 4/1996 under section 302 RPC and started investigation but the killers were not located. Therefore, the file was closed. The CJM, Shopian transferred the case to the Judicial Magistrate Pampore where it came up for hearing on May 11. The Magistrate observed that if the facts will not come to fore during investigation then the case will be re-investigated. The court said that police could on its own go for investigation if evidence about the case will surface even days after the incident. The court said presently the situation was different and so people have every right to demand justice. The court directed the Superintendent Police, Awantipora to re-investigate the case and furnish a report within a fortnight.
BSF TROOPS BARGE INTO A HOUSE AND FIRE INDISCRIMINATELY 
On May 30, troops of 51 battalion of Border Security Forces (BSF) barged into the house of a vegetable vendor Mushtaq Ahmad Nagoo, son of Ghulam Mohiudin, resident of Nusu Bandipora and fired indiscriminately around the courtyard and corridor of the house. The firing damaged the walls of the house and critically wounded Mushtaq Ahmad. The firing infuriated the residents of Nusu and they resorted to protest. The protesters raised anti-BSF slogans and demanded stern action against the troopers. The protesters also asserted that Mushtaq was shot only for demanding money for vegetables, which he sold to BSF. The SDPO Bandipora visited spot and pacified the protesters by assuring them of action against BSF.

Mushtaq Ahmad Nagoo, 35, told to The Informative Missive, “In the evening of May 30 at around 9:45pm, some personnel of 51 battalion of BSF broke into our house. I was unaware about the raid of the troops; my brother and I were sitting in a room on the first floor of our house. I heard some gunshots followed by a barrage of bullets. My brother and I lay down on the floor. Meanwhile, I heard the cries of my family members who were sitting in the kitchen. I thought that renegades entered into our house and shot my family members. I got restless and without caring for my life, I rushed out of my room and started to move down. As soon as I stepped on the upper step of the ladder in the corridor, one BSF personnel who was in the corridor aimed his gun at me. He fired many bullets towards me. I lay on the floor but my right foot was hit with two bullets. Due to the bullet shots, a little finger of my foot chopped off. After that the troops fled away from our house.”

Mushtaq further said, “First the troops fired into our courtyard and then they entered in the corridor and fired indiscriminately. They didn’t leave our house for about 15 minutes till I was shot at and injured. After I got injured my family members raised alarm and our neighbors came out of their houses. Then I was rushed to the Bandipora hospital. I lost lot of blood till I reached the hospital. Few moments after the event SDPO Bandipora visited our house and assured the protesters that he would look into the matter. Police stayed at our house till 2 o’clock in the night. Next day in the morning, residents of the village started to protest against the BSF. The protesters blocked Srinagar-Bandipora highway and demanded action against the guilty BSF troopers. They voiced slogans against BSF and asserted that they persecute villagers. After the police intervention, commanding officer of 51 battalion of BSF visited our house and apologized for the happening. Even the officer offered some money to me for the medical treatment but I refused to accept that. I did not file any case against the guilty party because I am running my shop in the Bandipora market and I have to face these troops everyday. To avert further harm to me or my family I refrained to file the case.”

“Mushtaq was attacked, because he had gone to the BSF camp and demanded money for vegetables, which he had sold to them. The BSF personnel had told him to come tomorrow, but on same day in the evening the BSF trooper barged into his house and fired on him,” said some of the locals in the village. Some local newspapers also carried the same version as that of the locals. 

Whereas, Senior Superintendent of Police, Baramulla told that Mushtaq was injured in a crossfire. He said BSF was not behind the incident. He said there was gunfight between 2 Para troops of army and militants and in the crossfire he was injured. He said that BSF is camping near the spot and therefore people accuse them. He denied the allegation of people and said BSF is not involved in the firing incident. 

CRPF THRASH BRAZILIAN FOOTBALL COACH FOR NOT UNDERSTANDING HINDI?
May 31: A visiting Brazilian football coach tasted the hospitality of security forces in Jammu and Kashmir when he was beaten black and blue for not speaking to them in Hindi. 

Brazilian soccer coach John Marcos Trioa, who is in Srinagar on the invitation of the Jammu and Kashmir Football Association to train young footballers, was thrashed by Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) personnel outside the central telegraph office. 

According to Bashir Ahmed Malik, general secretary of the football association, the CRPF troopers had asked Marcos to leave his camera behind when entering their office premises. Unaware of protocol in the tense region, the football coach had started arguing with the security personnel. He said, the troopers repeatedly asked Marcos to talk to them in Hindi but he continued to argue in English as he could not speak the Indian language. Annoyed, the CRPF personnel dragged the coach inside the bunker and unleashed their batons on him. He was later detained for several hours before sports bodies rescued him by seeking the intervention of higher authorities. The incident has drawn wide condemnation in Jammu and Kashmir. “If such things happen with an international footballer like Marcos, imagine the fate of an ordinary sportsperson,” said JKFA president Zamir Thakur tolf media, “Who will come to Kashmir to play here after this incident?” Footballers said they were appalled to see Marcos in the coaching camp crying in pain. “There are visible marks of torture on his body,” said Thakur.

The Sports Authority of India is planning a major football event, the Santosh Trophy, in Srinagar next year, in which wide participation from national teams is expected. Marcos had been invited to train local footballers for the event. He was also tasked with identifying football talent in local schools. 

The CRPF has, however, denied the allegations. A CRPF official said Marcos was simply asked by a sentry to leave his camera outside. “The sentry was speaking in Hindi and Marcos did not understand. Therefore, the sentry called over his company commander, who took Marcos inside the bunker,” he said. The official further said that the commander offered Marcos tea and snacks inside the bunker. “There is no question of beating an international footballer,” the CRPF public relations officer said.

TWO PERSONS DIE OF TORTURE

On April 16, 2007, police recovered two unidentified dead bodies from the Bund, Kursoo-Rajbagh, Srinagar. When the bodies were not claimed by anyone for few days, the bodies were buried in a local graveyard at Rajbagh. Finally, on May 22, the dead bodies were identified as Mushtaq Ahmad Chopan, son of Ghulam Muhammad Chopan of Quil Bandipora and Abdul Aziz Mir of Tangwari Baramulla on the description given by their families. One of the deceased Mushtaq Ahmad Chopan was missing since April 14 after he had left to Kupwara. Regarding the incident police station, Bandipora, lodged a FIR vide number 25/07 under sections 302, 120 B and 201 RPC and started to investigate the matter.

Sara, 48, mother of deceased Mushtaq narrated to The Informative Missive, “My son was a poultry dealer and on April 13 in the morning he left for Kupwara to collect payment from one poultry merchant Ghulam Qadir, who owed rupees 1, 50,000 to Mushtaq. He did not return home in the evening. Next day in the evening he called us on phone from a mobile phone 9419468541 and in his last message told that he is in Srinagar and would return after few days. When he did not arrive for three days, we got worried. We called the mobile number from which he had called us, but unfortunately it was switched off. We waited a few days more for his return but he didn’t come. After a week’s time, we went to Kupwara to Ghulam Qadir’s Shop and asked about Mushtaq. He replied that he didn’t meet him for a long time. When we could not locate him we went to the police station Bandipora and filed a report”.

Sara further said, “More than a month passed since Mushtaq went missing, some police personnel of police station Rajbagh boarding in a Sumo Vehicle raided our house and called my younger son Mohammad Aarif. They ordered him to accompany them and told him that his brother Mushtaq has killed two persons. After that the police personnel bundled him in the Sumo vehicle and took him to the police station Rajbagh. In the police station he was shown two photographs among which one was of Mushtaq. Aarif got shocked on seeing his brother’s photo among the pictures of slain persons. Aarif informed us and then my husband and some relatives rushed to the Police Station, Rajbagh. After they asked police about the incident, Police told that the dead bodies of the duo were recovered from the Bund, Kursoo-Rajbagh on April 16. Mushtaq’s dead body was kept in a bag, whereas another dead body of Abdul Aziz Mir, resident of Tangwari, Baramulla was kept under the sandbags. Police also told Aarif that when they had recovered the bodies they had given the photos of the dead to the media organizations for identification. Unfortunately, we failed to monitor publications and could not get information about Mushtaq’s death. I have never seen Abdul Aziz and I don’t know what his relation with my son was and how was he with my son at Rajbagh. What I know is that he was killed with my son. We didn’t bring Mushtaq’s dead body to our village, because he was buried in a local graveyard at Rajbagh and finally we decided not to exhume the dead body. Police also conducted the autopsy of the duo and it was found that both the deceased were first given some sedatives and after that they were tortured brutally. Mushtaq’s head was hit by the hammer and there were other visible torture marks all over his body”.
“When police started investigation into the case, first phone number 9419468541 of Abdul Aziz was investigated and the call details of the number were checked by the police. So far in the process of investigation police made many arrests as per call details of Abdul Aziz’s mobile number. Ultimately police found that the abettor is one Tanveer Ahmad Sheikh of DarporaLolab, Kupwara. Tanveer Ahmad is the relative of Ghulam Qadir Mir who owed money to us. It is the Ghulam Qadir who is believed to be the conspirator of Mushtaq and Aziz’s killing. Police had arrested the accused Tanveer Ahmad but he was released after some time because his father is working in the police department. Even his father told us that he got Tanveer released from police custody on the payment of rupees 30,000. Tanveer had arranged the assailants at one Mushtaq Ahmad Chaie’s house, who tortured both the persons to death. But the real perpetrator Ghulam Qadir is still free. He got my son killed but did not return our money. My son was innocent and was never associated to any unlawful activity. All our family responsibilities were lying on him. I had two sons and now I have only Aarif, who is not in sound health as he is suffering from mental illness. My husband is an ailing person and is not able to work. Now who will support my family especially Mushtaq’s two-year-old daughter, Raunak and his wife Naseema,” complains Sara

TWO PERSONS ARRESTED IN DELHI
On November 16, 2006, a cooking gas dealer Mohammad Iqbal Jan, 29, son of Mohammad Yousuf Jan, resident of Sunerwani, Bandipora and Mushtaq Ahmad Kaloo, 30, son of Abdul Gafar Kaloo, resident of New Colony Sopore, a small shopkeeper in Sopore were arrested by the personnel of Delhi Police Special Cell (DPSC) near Red Fort Delhi after they had boarded a bus to Jammu. Both the persons were labeled as Jaish militants and Delhi police claimed to have arrested the duo on November 28, 2006.  An amount of rupees 5 Lakhs was recovered from Iqbal’s possession, which police stated that the money was couriered for Jaish-e-Mohammad militant outfit. Whereas Iqbal’s family contested the police claim that the amount had to be paid to Bharatiya Petroleum Company. However, Police also claimed recovery of RDX from Mushtaq’s possession. Mushtaq and Iqbal are friends and had gone to Delhi together regarding their business affair. Both of them were arrested on November 16, 2006 but police portrayed them as militants on November 29 through various news channels.

Salma, sister of Iqbal stated while talking to The Informative Missive, “On November 16, 2006 my brother and his friend Mushtaq Ahmad boarded the Jet Airways flight from Srinagar to Delhi. He had to go to Delhi to purchase gas stoves and to pay some amount to Bharatiya Petroleum Company. For the purpose he had carried rupees 5 Lakhs. Earlier the family had taken an amount of Rs 8 lakhs as loan from J&K Bank Bandipora, from which 5 lakhs were taken by Iqbal.  The other person Mushtaq had to purchase footwear for his shop. After reaching Delhi, both of them visited their respective companies regarding their business. My brother Iqbal visited Delta Stove Company at Pritampuri, New Delhi on the 17th November and had ordered some stoves for his gas agency. After that both Iqbal and Mushtaq boarded a bus to Jammu near Red Fort in morning and in the meanwhile some personnel of DPSC dressed in civvies entered into the bus and ordered them to come down from the bus. The DPSC personnel told my brother to accompany them, as they wanted to talk to them regarding some matter. After that both of them were bundled in an Indica car and were taken away.”

“On November 18 in the morning Iqbal called us on phone on our neighbor’s shop.  He called from a local Airtel number, which was in Srinagar. He told the neighbor shopkeeper to call us however until I reached the shop, got disconnected. He could have called us at our residential landline number but unfortunately it was out of order at that time. I went to the shop and took the number from the phone ID. I called back on the number, after sometime it got connected and then I talked to him. On the phonic conversation he told that he is in Chandigarh and would come back within a week.  Cops of DPSC had forcibly made him to call us and inform us about his well being in Chandigarh. In the last words of the conversation he tried to inform me about his arrest as he advised me to transfer the amount from his account to mine. He wanted to convey the message but he was in trouble, however the phone got disconnected and I again tried to call but it answered switch off. I couldn’t understand what Iqbal wanted to convey and we kept on waiting for his return,” said Shagufta, fiancée and cousin of arrested Iqbal.

Salma further said, “In the evening of November 28, personnel of DPSC called on our residential phone and informed us about Iqbal’s arrest. When we asked, why he was arrested? They told us to know the reason come to Delhi. Next day on November 29 we rushed to the police station, Bandipore and informed them about his arrest, but police told us they wouldn’t do anything regarding the matter. On the same day in the evening at 8pm, news was aired on the DD national news that two Jaish militants were arrested in Delhi from whom Rs 5 lakhs and RDX was recovered. We got shocked on hearing the news. On December 2, 2006, my second brother- in- law and my cousin went to Delhi and visited quarters of DPSC at Lodhi road. After contacting the authorities of the cell they were allowed to meet Iqbal. While meeting him they found him tortured. He was not able to move and there were apparent torture marks all over his body. In the meeting, he told that he was entangled in the false militancy case and narrated the tale of his arrest and detention.”

Shagufta complained, “Up to December 7, he was kept detained at the DPSC quarters and on December 8, he was shifted to Tihar Jail. Police produced a forged charge sheet against him in the court. So far he was presented in the sessions court Teeshazari four times but nothing unlawful was found against him. He was falsely implicated in the militancy case. He was never associated to any political or militant group and was never charged of any offence throughout his life. But we don’t know why he was arrested without any involvement?”

“Iqbal has done bachelors degree (B.Sc) and after that he started to work with LIC (Life Insurance Corporation) as an agent. When he could not meet the demands of the life he took the dealership of cooking gas from Bharat Petroleum Company and was well settled in his business. Many a times he carried similar or more amounts of money to Delhi in order to pay to Petroleum company but he was never implicated in any such case before”, adds Shagufta.

 
Salma, Iqbal’s sister further told, “Our parents have already passed away in the year 1993. When we were minors, my brother, my elder sister and I were residing in Sopore with our parents but after they passed our uncle at Bandipore adopted us. My elder sister got married and now we two were living with the uncle. When we were residing in Sopore, my brother and Mushtaq were studying together in the same school and since then they were friends. My uncle has six daughters and I became the seventh one and among all of us Iqbal was the only male in the family. All our hopes are lying on him. He was managing the whole business and since his arrest, all our business is in Shambles. Now to certain extent I am handling the business and on the other side I am fighting for my brother’s justice and innocence. Iqbal is presently languishing in Tihar Jail along with other Kashmiri detainees who might have been entangled in the same manner. There is no male member in our family who could visit Delhi again and again. It is my brother- in- law who is pleading the case and visits Delhi at different occasions regarding the legal proceedings of Iqbal’s case.  I am stuck to pay the interest to the bank on the loan Rs. 8, 00000 which my brother had taken. I am worried about my brother who will get him released and who will handle our business?” 

CUSTODIAL KILLING

On May 8, a person was killed in custody after the police arrested him from his house. The deceased was identified as Abdul Rashid Khan, son of Jalali Khan, resident of Dunnabudhal, Rajouri. Police also arrested two other persons Sakhi Mohammad and Muneeb Hussain, who were released after some questioning. The killing triggered massive protests in the area and people chanted anti-occupational and pro-freedom slogans.


Riyasat Amin, a human rights activist from Poonch district of Jammu on a telephonic conversation told to The Informative Missive, “Abdul Rashid was arrested by the police personnel from his house for some questioning whereas two other persons Sakhi Mohammad and Muneeb Hussain were also arrested. All the three persons were arrested on the same day. After few days of detention, two persons were released while, as Abdul Rashid was tortured to death. When the dead body was brought to the home of Rashid, his family members found visible torture marks all over his body. The deceased was brutally tortured that caused his death in custody. The family referred the dead body to the sub-district hospital for autopsy and the reports are being awaited”, said Riyasat Amin


Riyasat adds, “The persons who were released had witnessed the treatment which was inflicted on them and Abdul Rashid. They claimed that Rashid died due to severe torture. Rashid was innocent and was never involved in any unlawful activity. He was working as farmer as well as a laborer and often remained busy with his domestic work. The reason for his arrest and killing was unknown. Police filed a case regarding the incident and assured of a probe into the matter”.

“Police while refuting the allegations claimed that Rashid committed suicide in the mess of the detention center. When he was about to take the food, he found a knife by which he got his throat slit and died due to that. Whereas the residents of the area contested police claims and said that Rashid died of the torture. People of the area got furious over the killing and held strong protests. The protesters demanded for the probe into the matter and stern action against the perpetrators”, said Riyasat. 
MAN DETAINED AFTER GEELANI RALLY, FAMILY CLAIMS INNOCENCE
May 3: Firdous Ahmad Shah is currently languishing in Kot Bhalwal Jail, Jammu. His family is in deep distress. PSA has been slapped on him and three other leaders of APHC-G. His family believes that he was not among those who waved the controversial flag or chanted the anti-national slogans, during the huge public gathering addressed by Hurriyat conference (G) chairman Syed Ali Shah Geelani in Eidgah, Srinagar. 

"His name has not figured among those in the first information report (FIR) lodged in Safakadal police station. Why has he been slapped under PSA," questioned Nasima Begum, mother of the accused Firdous. 

There is no other male member in the family, who can take care of the family. This time the family is in deep shock, as there is no one to take care of heart patient Nasima (mother of Firdous), two kids and wife. "Now it is difficult to tolerate the separation of my son," said ailing mother.

The FIR No 70/2007 under section 13 of the Unlawful Activities Act lodged in Safakadal Police station consists the names Hurriyat leaders including its general secretary Ghulam Nabi Sumji, Musrat Alam of Muslim League, Mohammad Shafi Lone, Mohammad Yasin Attai and Mehraj-u-din Kalwal, but not the name of Firdous Ahmad Shah. 

Firdous Ahmad Shah was member of Islamic Students League before joining Hurriyat. 

But police does not agree with the family members of Firdous Ahmad Shah when they say that he is not involved in the flag-raising controversy. "His (Firdous's) not figuring in the list of those against whom FIR has been registered does not absolve him and it doesn't mean that he is not accused. He was present in the rally and is involved in anti-national activities. That is why he has been slapped under PSA," said SSP Srinagar, Syed Mujtaba.

FOUR YEARS LOST TO SHUTDOWNS IN PAST 17 YEARS IN VALLEY 

May 10: The people in Kashmir observed strikes and shutdowns for four years during past seventeen years. 

The 'credit' for these frequent shutdowns goes to those who called for ‘hartals’ (shutdowns). 

Understandably, this situation has crippled the Kashmir economy and impacted more or less every sphere of life. Perhaps realizing the dangerous ramification of frequent shutdowns, there has now been a drastic decline in the frequency of ‘hartals’ in the Valley. 

As against 207 ‘hartals’ called during the year 1991, only 18 such strikes were called during 2006. 

With the inception of militancy in Jammu and Kashmir in 1989, 1763 days of strike have been observed in Kashmir from the year 1989 up to February 2007. Maximum number of such strikes was recorded in 1989 when people worked just for 158 days throughout the year -- 207 days were spent in strikes during this year. 

The following year witnessed 198 ‘hartal’ days followed by 148 in 1992 and 139 days in 1993. 

Later it was the year 2001, which witnessed yearly strikes in triple figures. For 112 days normal life was closed down in response to ‘hartals’ called by different outfits. 

There were 97, 89, 95 and 72 strikes during 1994, 1995, 1996 and 1997 respectively. 

The trend of calling strikes came down after 2000. The years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2005 respectively witnessed 41, 112, 77, 58 and 18 such strikes.
TA SOLDIERS RAPE 18-YEAR OLD GIRL
RAJOURI, May 11: Two soldiers of Territorial Army (TA) raped an 18-year old girl in Chingus area of Rajouri district. Police has filed a case against the accused soldiers who have gone into hiding. 

Local residents told that Parveena, daughter of Alam Din of Chingus area was grazing cattle in the nearby forest when two soldiers of TA tore her clothes and took turns to rape her. The villagers said the girl was nude when she returned to the village and had bruises all over her body. 

Villagers tried to chase those brutes but they escaped, said the father of the victim. The accused soldiers have been identified as Bagh Hussain, son of Muhammad Bashir and Muhammad Saghir, son of Bashir Ahmad. The accused were former counter-insurgents working variously as informers and mercenary gunmen for armed forces. Presently they were soldiers of TA, a battalion comprising the former counter-insurgent gunmen, many of whom have been accused of worst crimes and human rights violations. 

Police has registered a case of rape against the accused in police station Chingus (FIR 141). 

The villagers demonstrated against the soldiers and asked police to arrest them immediately.

ITBP MEN SET FREE
May 11: Two Indo-Tibetan Border Police (ITBP) men who were arrested last week on the charges of subjecting a south Kashmir youth to enforced disappearance in 2001 have been set free, news reports said on May 11. 

The two ITBP men Baljit Singh and Hukumat Singh were detained by the police after Ghulam Hassan Koka, father of the disappeared youth Muhammad Ashraf Koka, identified them during a parade conducted on the instructions of the High Court at Tehsildar office in Dooru. The two ITBP men identified by Koka were never posted in the valley and no ITBP man was detained by the police, news reports quoted SSP Islamabad Abdul Gani Mir as saying.

JUST 32 RIGHTS VIOLATIONS IN 12 YEARS, CLAIMS GOVT
May 12: The government claims there have been only 32 verified cases of human rights violations by the army and paramilitary in the valley in the past 12 years. The claim was made by the Ministry of Home Affairs in response to a Right to Information application from a Delhi based newspaper. The Department of Jammu and Kashmir Affairs at the ministry also said that no records of human rights violations were available for the period between 1989, when the insurgency began, and 1994. 

  
That period witnessed some of the worst violence of the insurgency. The ministry said that 1,122 complaints of alleged human rights violations have been received against army and paramilitary personnel between 1994 and December 2006. “Of these, 1,089 complaints have been investigated, 1,057 of them were found false; in 32 cases where the complaints were found genuine, penalties have been imposed on 61 personnel, while in six cases compensation has been awarded”, it said.

 
Justice M.Y. Kawoosa, chairman of the J&K Human Rights Commission, dismissed the claim. “I don’t believe this. We have received at least 3,600 cases. We have already disposed of 2,500 cases,” Kawoosa said. 

TROOPS THRASH GIRL STUDENT
SRINAGAR, May 14: Paramilitary CRPF troops beat up a 15-year-old girl in south Kashmir’s Tral town on May 14, triggering violent clashes in which at least nine policemen were injured, reports and witnesses said. They said the troops belonging to CRPF 185 battalion thrashed 9th standard student Tabasum Noor, daughter of Noor Muhammad Wani, near Mandoora Tral after she objected to indecent remarks passed by the troopers. 

As the word spread in the area, students from the nearby schools came out on streets, yelling anti-India and anti-CRPF slogans. 

When the students tried to march ahead, police swung into action and resorted to baton-charge and fired teargas canisters to disperse them. The protesters however offered a stiff resistance and clashed with the policemen, injuring nine of them. The wounded include the Station House Officer, Tral. 

Later another group of students blocked the busy Srinagar-Jammu highway near Awantipura. They were demanding immediate action against the erring troopers. See how brave they are, they don’t even spare women, said a protester Javid Ahmed Khan. 

The SP Awantipora said, some personnel of 185 BN CRPF were conducting routine checking at Mandoora in Tral when some students traveling in a bus objected to frisking. This led to a heated argument between students and the CRPF men.

Taking suo moto notice of the alleged beating of a girl student by CRPF troopers, State Human Rights Commission 9SHRC) on May 17 asked the Inspector General of Police to file a detailed factual report of the incident by May 29, 2007.

ARMY TERROR: VICTIM OF HARASSMENT ARRESTED
KHANMOH (Rafiabad), May 16: Fareed Khan of Rafiabad can't believe that he is languishing in jail for complaining against a man enjoying official patronage. His source of worry is a soldier from Territorial Army of 161 Battalion, Parvaiz Ahmad Khan, who is allegedly eying Fareed's wife Shameema Bano from last couple of years and is bent upon marrying her. 

Fareed has begun to get threats from Parvaiz, who is surrendered militant turned army personnel, according to Fareed's parents. Fareed's is a unique case in the sense that his pleas to the local police officials have produced no results as per his expectations; instead he has been put behind the bars several times for informing police about how he was being harassed by an armed man. 

Incidentally, the harassments at the hands of Territorial Army (TA), is an emerging phenomenon in the valley and the TA personnel appear to have replaced the Ihkwanis (renegades) who used to commit atrocities on the hapless civilians in mid 1990s. 

Army started recruiting youth and surrendered gunmen fours back years back and reports pouring in from different areas of the valley suggest that the TA personnel tend to don the role of the erstwhile Ikhwanis whose second name used to be terror in the mid 1990s. There are a number of complaints that certain TA personnel allegedly molest and rape young females in the villages; and at times make attempts to snatch away "good-looking" spouses from their life-partners. 

Last year, a TA personnel had cast pursued a school-going girl till her parents drew the attention of fellow villagers and the media to escape from his wrath. Similarly, a woman in Doniwari in Kupwara was repeatedly threatened by a personnel of TA to ditch her husband and marry him, but she refused to budge before his despotic behavior. Fareed's could be the "latest" case as some incidents of such nature get unnoticed and unreported also. 

On May 16, not only Fareed, but also his entire household is a worried lot. His family members are astonished to see a person demanding what they have gained legally - after a proper marriage deed. "He (Parvaiz) is making use of army and Ikhwanis to terrorize and pressurize Fareed, so that he divorces his wife and make way for him (Parvaiz). But this will never happen, as we will prefer to die rather than to get bullied by his threats," said Fareed's father Shah Gul. 

He said that the police personnel of the local police station have arrested Fareed and he is languishing there, only for filing a complaint against this notorious surrendered militant cum army man.  

The family members of Fareed alleged that the local police is patronizing and supporting Parvaiz who often comes in the village along with other troops and his accomplices or "goons", to beat and pressurize Fareed and them. 

Relatives of Fareed said that after getting pressures and life threats from army man Parvaiz, Fareed went on March 2nd to Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Baramulla, with an application to seek the help of police in investigating the matter and to seek action against the army man. "SSP wrote to Station House Officer (SHO) Panzalla (the concerned police station) for necessary action and investigations. But nothing like that occurred as SHO Panzalla is on good terms with Parvaiz. How can he take action against him?" said Shah Gul.

 Finally after the orders of higher police officials, a case under FIR No. 21/2007 was registered against Parvaiz in the concerned police station on April 16. But this did provide any help to the "suffering" family. 

Now fed up with the dilly-dallying tactics of police, the helpless Fareed again went to SSP Baramulla office on April 30, 2007. Again SSP wrote to concerned police station for necessary action, but nothing as per the family members happened. And this time the concerned SHO arrested Fareed and put him behind bars, which the family members allege has been done by Station House Officer allegedly "on the recommendations of Parvaiz.'' 

"Our crime is only that we tried to get justice from those who are helping the criminals," said one of the relatives of Fareed who wishes not to be named. 

However, SSP Baramulla, Viplav Kumar says that he will take appropriate action against both the army personnel and the police official, if found guilty of supporting the culprit. 

ARMY'S 'CENSUS' EXERCISE SPREADS PANIC IN BARAMULLA

RAFIABAD (Baramulla), May 17: Away from media glare, Army has been conducting a big exercise in remote villages of Rafiabad- Baramulla, registering names and details of every person including the women. While people in some villages under duress allowed them to carry on 'census' of their families including women, many people are still resisting as they term it as invasion of their privacy.

 
Army says that they are maintaining village profile for identification of outsiders and women are no exception.

In past two months, 32 Rashtriya Rifles has been conducting the census in Markoot, Kakerdaji, Pakwara and many other villages of Rafiabad. The exercise is already complete in Ladoora, Nadihal and many other villages. In these villages girls above the age of 10 are included in the census and males above seven.

"Since past two months the troops of RR come and knock at our doors and ask us family background and strength" said Abdul Gaffar a villager of Ladoora. The questions they ask are: What is your family strength? How many literate? Militants? Jail return? School going? Source of income? How many women?

Abdul Sattar another villager of Pakwara interrupted, "Army says it is important. Who can question them? There is invasion to privacy by the troops for last 18 years." He questions this exercise of army and says it might be the part of the special powers army is enjoying for last 18 years.

Residents of these villages term the census as invasion of their privacy and fear misuse of record, particularly incase of women. Mahtaba, a woman, gives vent to her apprehensions, saying "There had been many incidents, when Ikwanis first collected the information and later on gunpoint molested and made attempts to rape women. Yet the women are not active in militancy, what is the motive of collecting details of women."

This is not the first census army is conducting. The army screened many villages of Handwara district. The army's 21 RR has collected the group photographs in Haran, Zachaldara and in many villages of Mavar area.

Police does not want to take any cudgels with army. A police officer requesting not to be named said, "People came to us, but we can not help them" adding, "We have conducted census previous year, incase army needs any information they can have. They have no right to conduct census."

However, Deputy Inspector General of police, Baramulla S Srinavasan said, "No, they must not be conducting the census."

 
Defence spokesman Lt. Col. A K Mathur admitted that army is conducting the census to establish a village profile. He said by maintaining a village profile the outsider can be identified. The defence spokesman added that women are no exceptions.

SECURITY FORCES OCCUPY EXPENSIVE BUILDINGS
May 17: Despite instruction from the Centre, the Jammu & Kashmir Home Department had failed to de-hire and vacate expensive hotels and buildings occupied by security forces in the state, resulting in avoidable and excess payment of rent, according to a report by the Comptroller and Auditor General (CAG) of India. 

It said security forces deployed in Jammu & Kashmir to combat militancy have occupied vacant houses of migrant Kashmiri Pandits, office buildings, hotels and cinema halls. Subsequently, the report said accommodation was regularized in consultation with the local police for which the Deputy Inspector General of Police (DIG-Srinagar and Jammu ranges) functioning as coordinating agencies. The Rent Assessment Committee concerned fixed the rent payable, which recommended cases to the Director General of Police (DGP) for processing and obtaining sanction of the Jammu & Kashmir government (Home Department). 

As on March 31, 2006, security forces occupied 33 hotels and cinema halls and 628 private accommodations in the Kashmir valley, and 326 private accommodations in Jammu. The report said the number of cases where rent was sanctioned totaled to 850, out of which 55 were in Kashmir and the remaining 300 in Jammu. 

While 137 cases had not been sanctioned, out of which 111 were in Kashmir and the remaining 26 in Jammu. It said there were 466 pending rent cases from the sanctioned ones. Out of these, 378 cases were in Kashmir and the remaining 88 in Jammu. 

The report said scrutiny of records in March 2006 revealed that the year wise breakup of 137 cases under process and awaiting sanction and likely estimated rent payable had not been worked out. In respect of 486 cases sanctioned, the rent payable amounted to Rs 14 crores as of September 2006. 

RAID ON SCRIBE'S HOUSE SPARKS PROTEST IN BARAMULLA

SRINAGAR, May 21: Reporters working for different media organizations in north Kashmir held a protest demonstration on Monday, May 21 in front of the office of District Magistrate Baramulla against the raid by 46 Rashtriya Rifles in the house of a scribe Atlaf Baba. 

The reporters announced the boycott of all troop functions till Major Khanna of 46 RR is not replaced. The RR Major also tore up the identity card of Ghulam Geelani Baba who works of UNI and is father Altaf Baba. While raiding the house Major Khanna of 46 RR allegedly threatened to kill Altaf and Ghulam Geelani.

During the protest the journalists condemned the raid and put forth a memorandum before the District Magistrate Baramulla expressing concern over the fact that freedom of expression was being denied to them.

District Magistrate assured the matter would be looked into, while the police is yet to register a case. 

 
On May 19 some unidentified militants killed a soldier and injured another in the main market Baramulla.

 
After the incident the troops went berserk and launched a search operation in the area and forcibly entered the house of Ghulam Jeelani Baba who besides working for various local dailies also works for United News of India (UNI). His son Altaf Baba works as a correspondent for media. 

Altaf was targeted as he had earlier reported about the alleged atrocities committed by one Major Khanna of Baramulla-based 46 Rashtriya Rifles. The officer tore a card issued to Ghulam Jeelani by the UNI into pieces and arrested his son Dr Muhammad Sultan, who was however released later in the evening. 

“The coverage of the incident and ransacking of his house on May 19 further agitated Major Khanna and he dropped in the office of Altaf and threatened other journalists present there of severe consequences in the coming days,” the spokesman of the Kashmiri Journalists Association said.

TWO KASHMIRI YOUTH HELD WITH ‘1 MILLION EUROS’: POLICE
MANALI (HP), May 21: Two Kashmiri youths were claimed to have been arrested in Manali with a one million Euro note they were trying to exchange with Indian currency, baffling the police who sent it to the Reserve Bank of India for checking its authenticity. 

 
Acting on a tip-off, a police team led by Deputy Superintendent of Police, Kuldeep Rana arrested the youths while they were negotiating with a property dealer for exchanging the Euro into Indian currency yesterday evening. 

The youths, identified as Faiyaz Ahmad (32) and Raees Ahmad (27), residents of Kupwara district of Jammu and Kashmir were involved in shawl trade in Manali for the past one-month, Rana said. 

The single note of one million Euro recovered from the youths was purportedly issued by a bank in Italy, the DSP said adding, police consulted local bank officials to verify whether the note was fake, but as no conclusive suggestion came from them, it was sent to the RBI branch in Chandigarh. 

During interrogation, the duo said they were given the Euro note by somebody in Srinagar, the DSP said adding, it was suspected that the money was to be utilized in militant activities. 

Rana said the youths used to visit Manali frequently for selling shawl. 

He said a request has been made to Kupwara Police to know more about the two, who was later produced in the court of Kullu Chief Judicial Magistrate Purendra Vaidya and were remanded to police custody till May 25.

HANDWARA VILLAGERS PROTEST AGAINST MOLESTATION 

SRINAGAR, May 22: The people of Takibal Chogul Handwara, 80 kilometers from Srinagar staged protests on Tuesday, May 22 against the alleged molestation of a 24-year-old dumb girl by the troops of Rashtriya Rifles, reports said. 

 
Reports said troops from 21 RR were carrying out search at Takibal Chougal village in Handwara on May 21 evening. The soldiers entered into the house of Ghulam Muhammad sheikh and allegedly molested the girl.

 
As the troops left the village, the villagers came to know about the alleged molestation. They news spread like wild fire and people of Harn the adjoining village joined the protesters. They were demanding the arrest of the soldiers involved in the alleged molestation. The protesters alleged that the in the name of search the people are being subjected to harassment by the RR troops day in day out in Takibal and adjoining villages. 

ENGINEER COMPLETES 11 YEARS IN TIHAR


May 23: A young Kashmiri engineer denied an opportunity to prove himself innocent completed 11 years in Delhi’s Tihar Jail on May 23. 

It was on May 23, 1996 that Farooq Ahmad Khan of Islamabad (Anantnag) district was picked by the Special Operations Group of police and instantly shifted to the Tihar. On completion of 11 years in the Asia’s largest prison, Farooq has described his plight—he’s in jail without facing a trial—in a letter written apparently in hurry. 

He handed over the letter titled “Do we call this democracy” to his brother Ashiq Hussain, who visited him in the jail a few days ago. “Farooq told me that for years he wrote dozens of letters but the jail authorities tore them. I promised him to make his letter public so that everybody knows how Kashmiri detainees are treated in Indian jails,” Ashiq told. 

Farooq writes: “I am a human living in the ‘so-called’ world’s biggest democratic country. I am an engineering graduate and I was serving the Kashmir Government. I joined its services in 1991 as a junior engineer. Now if you are thinking that at this point of time I will be promoted and will be living a healthy life with my loved ones, then you are wrong…I am living the life of an unknown prisoner in the Tihar jail for past 11 years. We all know that life imprisonment means a maximum of 14 years, which I’ve almost completed. But you will be shocked that I have not crossed my under trial period yet.” 

“Hail democracy! But this is not one, two or three, we are in hundreds. I have been accused of nothing…My Allah is witness. At the same time I got a chance to keenly monitor the sufferings of Kashmiris lodged in different Indian jails. This injustice has made me understand that India neither has understood us (Kashmiris) nor will understand us… Please and please don’t forget the sacrifices of our youth.” 

“Lastly, my message to the general masses of Kashmir is that please try to understand that we few Kashmiris lodged in different jails of India are not apart from that Kashmir which has been transformed into the biggest jail of world with the presence of thousands of soldiers and unfortunately some jailers from our own community.” 

Farooq’s family alleges that the SOG cops framed him. “Police has failed to prove any charge against him or produce even a single witness,” they said.
KASHMIRI PILOT LANDED IN DELHI JAIL
May 24: When he should have been in the skies, a young Kashmiri pilot trained from a leading Indian aeronautical institute is languishing in a Delhi jail for the past six months. 

 
Imran Ahmad Kirmani, 25, was arrested at New Delhi airport on November 16, 2006, passed off as a Lashker-e-Toiba militant, and sent to jail. His family has approached President APJ Abdul Kalam, but to no avail. 

“He’s innocent and has been framed,” said Imran’s father Ghulam Rasool, a resident of north Kashmir’s Handwara town. “Throughout his career he was a brilliant student. He had a dream of becoming a pilot.” 

Imran joined the Rajiv Gandhi Memorial College of Aeronautics Jaipur in 2003 and graduated as a pilot after two years of intense training. He applied at various aviation service providers. One fine morning he received job offer from the Jet Airways and left for Delhi on November 16. 

For some days, his father said, he did not contact his family. “We thought he must be busy and would call later. But while watching television on November 22, to our shock and disbelief, we saw Imran handcuffed. The Special Cell of Delhi Police, which nurses a deep-seated grudge against Kashmiris, had dubbed him as a militant of Lashker-e-Toiba,” Rasool said. 

“I understood my son had been implicated like scores of other Kashmiris, and I rushed to Delhi. I met him in a lockup. He was brutally tortured…and pleaded to take him out of the hell,” he said. “I had sold a piece of land and gave Imran Rs. 4 lakh for booking a flat in Delhi. The cops seized the money from him and distributed among themselves.” 

Heartbroken, Rasool said he went to many officials from Kashmir to Delhi for his son’s release. Finally, he submitted a memorandum to President APJ Abdul Kalam. 

“The undersigned is directed to forward herewith in original President’s Secretariat correspondence (N0 8(10) 2007-9 (1) dated January 1, 2007 along with petition of Ghulam Rasool Kirmani, on the above mentioned subject (release of his son Imran Ahmad Kirmani),” wrote VK Gupta, under secretary Ministry of Home Affairs (Coordination II) to his senior Naveen Verma on April 7. 

“It is requested that appropriate action may be taken in the matter and a suitable reply may be sent to the petitioner under intimation to the President’s Secretariat and this division,” it added. 

“(But) over a month has passed and I did not receive any intimation. I have learnt that the file is gathering dust in the North Block,” Rasool rued. 

“My son’s career has been ruined. My last wish is to see him as a freeman; I will fight for it,” Ghulam Rasool said.

FRAMED KASHMIRI SCHOLAR PENS HIS PAINFUL TALE
May 30: Pervez Ahmad Radoo, 27, son of Sanaullah Radoo of Noor Bagh, Sopore, left home on September 12 to do a doctorate in Zoology from the Pune University where he did his Masters degree in 2003. Immediately, after coming out of the (New Delhi) airport, some cops in civvies dragged me inside a vehicle. The car was driven by one Inspector Sanjay Dutt. Two cops Lamba and Rane Singh, as I could identify them from their nameplates, blindfolded me. Within few minutes, I found myself in the Delhi Police cell at Lodhi Road, Pervez said in a letter to his parents from the Tihar. 

I showed them my air ticket for Pune but the cops tore it into pieces. They undressed me and thrashed me with bamboo sticks. The cops tied electric wires to my private parts, nose, ear and mouth, and gave electric shocks. They tied my feet with ceiling and kept beating me for hours till I went unconscious, he said in the 19-page letter. 

The cops, Pervez said, showed him photographs of militants asking him to recognize them. They threatened me of dire consequences if I will not confess my affiliation with the militants. They told me about Ansal Plaza encounter and said we will kill you in a fake encounter. I was forced to sign a number of blank papers. They kept a pistol on my head and asked me to inform my family in Sopore and friends in Pune that I had some work and was fine.  

On September 13, the Delhi cops prepared his fake identity card in the name of Muhammad Iqbal Ahmad with Hi-Tech written on it. In the afternoon, the cops took him to Airport and booked three tickets to Pune. Inspector Bhadrish Dutt and head constable Rane Singh gave me the ticket. I refused to take it, but they threatened me. On reaching Pune, they locked me in a room of Hotel Alankar. They told me to call home and tell them I have reached Pune, on the condition that I will not weep or inform them about my arrest.

After the call, the cops again interrogated him. How many militants are here in Pune? They cops told me while showing a list of Kashmiri students studying there. To prove his innocence, Pervez asked the cops to contact Ruhail Amin Qureshi who is an executive editor of Peace TV, and teachers and friends in Pune University. 

But they did not listen. They kept talking about special status to Jammu and Kashmir, subsidies and condition of Kashmir Pandits and role of Pakistan. They forced me to reply to all the questions. 

On reaching Delhi, the cops intensified the torture. My condition deteriorated, they shifted me to other place. My legs and thighs were swollen due to intense torture. I was not able to make free movements and on few occasions passed blood with stools.  

After this, the cops assured me of release and kept me in a separate room.  

Few days later, he writes, the ASI Dharmendra brought some Railway reservation forms. He asked me to sign the forms. Weeping, I pleaded before him to let me go home. He said, you have to first come from Maharashtra. I could not understand the plan and refused to sign them. But he compelled me to sign the forms of Jhelum Express, Goa Express and Golden Temple Express. Later, they kept the tickets attached with my charge sheet.

On October 20, Pervez was produced before media as a militant. I was surprised when the cops told the media that I had arrived in Delhi to carry blasts on the eve of Diwali. Later I was shifted to Tihar jail, he writes. 

In Sopore, his family could not believe their eyes when they saw Pervez on TV handcuffed and dubbed as a militant. 

Few hours later, he called home saying I have been framed. Before he could utter a word somebody snatched his phone, and said I am inspector Mohan Chand Sharma. Don’t worry your son is safe. Come to Delhi. 

On October 26, the family left for Delhi and contacted inspector Sharma. He told us to come to Special Cell of Delhi Police at Lodhi Road. On seeing us, Pervez could not even move. He told us the cops had brutally tortured him in custody, Pervez’s father Sanaullah Radoo told. 

Some cops, Radoo said, told him they were helpless. Some of our senior officers told us to arrest a Kashmiri and label him as a militant so that they could get promotion. After a charge sheet is filed against him, then you can apply for his bail. But they are delaying his trial on one pretext or the other, the cops told Radoo. 

From state to union ministers, Radoo approached everybody. They only gave assurances of his release. My son, who wanted to pursue advanced education, has been framed just for being a Kashmiri. I don’t have any expectations from state or Indian government. I want the international human rights organizations to intervene to save Kashmiris from clutches of Delhi police. I will continue to fight for my son’s release, Radoo added. 

State government has given a clean chit to Pervez whom Delhi police has labeled a militant. In its report (73/07 dated March 8, 2007) Sub-divisional Magistrate Sopore states: Based upon the report furnished by Additional Superintendent of Police Sopore (vide order no 56/2007-829) nothing has been found adverse against Pervez Ahmad Radoo, son of Sanaullah Radoo of Sopore in police station concerned so far.
SEXPLOITATION UNDER SADBHAVANA
SRINAGAR: Jammu and Kashmir High Court on Friday issued notices to several top ranking army officials including Chief of Army staff in a case of alleged sexual exploitation of a woman by an army officer in Gurez area of Bandipora district. Justice Mansoor Ahmad Mir issued notices to Union of India through secretary, ministry of defence, Chief of Army Staff, General Officer Commanding of the 15 corps of army, accused officer colonel Rajan Jamwal, local MLA and some other officials following a petition filed by Shahida Parveen, daughter of the alleged victim. 

“Notice in CMP also. Keeping in view the averments contained in the writ petition coupled with the affidavit of the petitioner, I deem it fit and proper to direct the Inspector General of Police, Kashmir Range, to provide adequate security to the petitioner and her family members,” Justice Mir said in the order. The Judge directed the case be listed after four weeks. According to the petition, the mother of the petitioner became a member of the Sadbhavana Committee on the advice of the village heads to represent the women folk of the area. The agony of the petitioner and her family started when the army launched “sadhbavna operation” in their village at Budawab-Tulel in Gurez area, the petition said. After joining the committee, she discovered the nasty intention of Colonel Rajan Jamwal behind launching such operation in the area. 

He constantly sexually exploited the mother of the petitioner who kept mum only because of the threat to her family extended by the commanding officer, it said. Under the threat of the army officer, who misused his official power and exploited and molested the mother of the petitioner again and again, the petitioner left her studies midway in the village and, to guard her honour and chastity, took refuge at madrassa (religious seminary) at Sopore, the petition added. The petition put the sequence of events as follows: The petitioner is the resident of village Budawah-Tulel in Tehsil Gurez, district Bandipora. The family of the petitioner comprises of eight members including her father and mother, two younger daughter sisters, two brothers and an old aged uncle. The Indian army launched a massive social welfare scheme in the area for the civilians under the name “Sadhbhavna” operation way back in 2005. The army involved the village heads in the activity and sought the representation from the women. Since the mother of the petitioner is an educated lady, on the advice of the village heads, she was made a member of the committee to represent the women folk of the area. 

Till November 2005 everything was all right. But in November 2005, Colonel Jamwal sent his jawan to the house of petitioner who informed the mother of the petitioner that she was required urgently in the office with regards to some official work. 

On reaching the office, the army officer threatened her and directed her to attend his office regularly in the afternoon. From that day began the sustained exploitation of the poor mother of the petitioner. The story did not end there the officer let the beast in him come out and started exploitation of the other family members of the family. After enduring the insult and exploitation for a long time for the safety of their children the mother of the petitioner finally could not yield to the demands of the officer who asked her to arrange some girls in the village for entertainment of some officers of army visiting village. The petitioner disclosed everything to the village heads but neither the village elders nor the MLA nor the other authorities at the place could prevail upon the commanding officer who continued to exploit the woman. Now, the commanding officer, which could not be tamed by any authority in the village, is demanding the family to produce their eldest daughter, the petitioner, to him so that he could satiate his lust. The petitioner has approached the court for protection of her life, chastity and honor of her family. 

STOP ARMY'S INTERFERENCE IN RELIGIOUS AFFAIRS OF KASHMIRIS: ULEMAS
Army evoked a religious controversy by taking part in renovation and reconstruction of religious places. The issue cropped up at a time when the news spread that so far army has spent Rs. 55 lakhs on the reconstruction/ renovation of 11 shrines. These include the shrine of Ayatollah Aga Syed Mehdi - Budgam, which was renovated at the cost of Rs 18 lakhs and was inaugurated by Governor of the state on May 19. Valleys majestic Mufti’s including Mufti Bashir-ud-din, issued a Fatwa that no donations can be accepted from the non-Muslims for the religious affairs. The Mufti advised the people to reimburse the Army, whatever they have spent in religious matters.  

in another remonstration, Muttahida Majlis-e-Ulema (MMU), the body comprising more than 300 Ulemas (religious scholars) of the state, on May 31 asked the President and the Prime Minister of India to direct the army authorities in Jammu & Kashmir not to interfere in religious affairs of Kashmiris. MMU said that army has been making inroads into the religious affairs in the garb of operation Sadbhavana. 

MMU held it’s meeting at Mirwaiz Manzil in Rajouri Kadal on May 31. The members of the MMU said that they would wait for the government of India's response "and in case there is not any positive response, people would be made aware that they should not allow army to interfere in the religious affairs." 

As soon as the issue of army's alleged interference in religious affairs of Kashmiris started snowballing, the conglomerate of MMU convened the conference of Ulemas (religious scholars) to evolve a strategy regarding the issue. Many religious organizations of Kashmir have alleged that Army, in an effort to win the hearts of people, has been offering money for the construction of religious places, which according to them is not permissible in Islam. 

In the conference, the religious scholars strongly condemned what they called the interference of the army in the religious affairs of the Kashmiris and demanded that this should be stopped forthwith. They asked the supreme authorities of the army and the Prime Minister to direct the army in Jammu & Kashmir for stopping their interference in the religious affairs.

In a rejoinder to the argument of MMU, Army contested that the money they are using for religious affairs is the public money paid to the government in the form of taxes. Hence the money is apt and can be used for the religious matters. The army forces also argued that if the subsidy to the Haj Pilgrims (Hajis), which is granted by the government, is acceptable then what is the flaw in money, which is contributed by the army for religious affairs under operation Sadbhavana. 

'24 SOLDIERS MISSING SINCE 2004'


NEW DELHI, May 17: Besides combating the incidences of suicides and fratricides, a new trend of soldiers missing from their duties is also stalking defence forces. Defence Minister A. K. Antony told Lok Sabha on May 15 that nearly 24 soldiers below the officer ranks had been reported missing since 2004. He, however, said that none among these were from the officer’s ranks. 

Surprisingly, most of these missing soldiers numbering 17 belong to the Air Force with followed by six in the Army and one in the Navy. In 2004, eight IAF personnel had gone missing. While in the Army four personnel became absent without leave during 2006. 

The Minister said that causes of their not reporting their duties were at various stages of investigations. Explaining the procedure, Antony said when defence personnel become absent without leave, efforts are made initially to trace them. 

A court of inquiry is ordered to look into the circumstances and if the defence personnel are found only missing, the terminal benefits as applicable except death gratuity or ex-gratia are re released to the next of kin after one year from the date the soldier was reported missing. However, if he was found to be a deserter, terminal benefits are not released and efforts are made to apprehend him. 

For over past few years, forces are reeling under rampant suicides and fratricide incidents. Between 2004 and 2006 while just 282 soldiers were killed in security operations, almost 408 lost their lives either in fratricide or in suicides. While 72 soldiers died in anti-militancy operations last year, Army has lost over 100 soldiers due to suicides in 2006. In addition, their own colleagues killed another 32. 

SUICIDES / FRATRICIDAL KILLINGS BY TROOPS

· CRPF TROOPER ON SHOOTING SPREE

May 2: Two state government employees received bullet injuries when a Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) trooper went on shooting spree at Kot Bhalwal Jail in the night of May 2. 

The CRPF man, identified as Sepoy Dukosowa posted in Kot Bhalwal Jail went out of barrack, reportedly in drunken condition, and resorted to indiscriminate firing at nearby water point, injuring two Public Health Engineering (PHE) employees, IGP Jammu S P Vaid told. 

· ARMY JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE

JAMMU, May 17: An Army jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service gun inside Core Headquarters at Nagrota on the intervening night of May 16 and 17.

 
An Army official spokesman said that Sepoy Manbir Singh of Engineering Regiment was on sentry duty when he shot himself to death with his service rifle.

· TROOPER COMMITS SUICIDE 

May 20: One-army personnel committed suicide by shooting himself dead at headquarters of XV Corps.


The deceased Suresh Kumar used his official weapon to kill him self. The cause of his suicide has not been ascertained. 

· JAWAN SENTENCED TO DEATH FOR KILLING COLLEAGUE

May 25: Twenty-year-old soldier was sentenced to death by an army court for killing his senior officer in Udhampur district. 

Satyam Kumar, the soldier belonging to the Signal Regiment was awarded death sentence on May 18 by summary general court martial at Udhampur based Northern Command headquarters, defence spokesman of Northern Command informed. 

On October 28 last year, the soldier had shot dead his senior officer Havaldar Padmamrajan, he said adding that the court martial observed that this was a 'rarest of the rare case' wherein the soldier had fired at his superior officer without any provocation and killed him in cold blood. 

· SOLDIER KILLS COLLEAGUE

May 30: Kuldeep Singh of 7 Para posted at Machil, Kupwara, killed his colleague Anil Kumar after an argument over some issue late night. In fit of range Singh fired upon Kumar with his service weapon from a point blank range killing him on the spot, an official said
.

NEWS IN BRIEF

· CUSTODIAL KILLING: GOVT ASKED TO FILE OBJECTIONS

May 1: On May 1, the Court directed the government to file objections in the alleged fake encounter killing of a driver in 2001. 


The direction was given on a petition filed by Ghulam Muhammad Mir of Rainawari in which he alleged that the Special Operation Group of police stationed at Humhama killed his son Bilal Ahmad Mir in a fake encounter on January 18, 2001.

· ARMY JAWAN ARRESTED FOR SODOMY

May 3: Police claimed to have arrested an army soldier of 45 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) on charges of sodomy in Surankote area of Poonch district. 


The soldier identified as Naik Daleep Singh of 45 RR sodomised an eleven-year old boy Aijaz Ahmad s/o Mohammad Mehmood of Samot Surankote on May 1, 2007. He was arrested on charges of sodomy after the family members of the victim filed a written complaint on May 3.


A case under FIR No. 52 of 2007 under section 377 RPC was registered against him and the victim was subjected to medical check up, reports of which were awaited. 


Irritated over the arrest of trooper at least 150 army men of 45 RR camp came to the police station and asked for release of the arrested trooper.


However, the senior police officers acted swiftly and they informed the senior officers of army. The senior officers intervened and they pacified the jawans who moved their barracks.

· SOG MEN KILL LABOURER

May 14: A labourer was allegedly shot dead by the personnel from Special Operations Group (SOG) of Police in Jammu’s Doda district on May 14 evening, locals said. 

They said SOG men fired upon Tariq Ahmed, son of Muhammad Ramzan at Prem Nagar Doda this evening. He was rushed to a hospital, where doctors declared him brought dead.

· BSF TORTURE DEATH: SHRC RECOMMENDS RELIEF

SRINAGAR, May 15: State Human Right Commission (SHRC) on May 15 recommended relief to the family of a youth who died due to torture by paramilitary Border Security Force (BSF) in 2001. 

In his petition Abdul Salam Wani of Doda had stated that the BSF troops stationed at Khudwani farm had handed over the body of his son Muhammad Yousuf Wani, who was missing, to Police Station Kulgam. 

A Single Bench of the commission comprising its member Habibullah Bhat after investigating the matter, quoting a report of Inspector General of Police said Yousuf was arrested by the BSF and then handed over to police in an injured condition. His condition deteriorated and he succumbed on way to hospital, it said. 

The commission directed the government to pay Rs. one lakh to the next of kin of the deceased and a job to his widow. 

· VERINAG OBSERVES SHUTDOWN

SRINAGAR, May 16: Verinag area in south Kashmir’s Anantnag district observed a complete shutdown on to press for their demand of getting paramilitary CRPF troopers vacated from the famous Verinag garden. 

Residents of Verinag told, “Famous Verinag garden has been occupied by the troopers since early nineties.” 

They said that the officials assured them that troopers would vacate the garden this year. 

“The huts for them (troopers) have already been constructed in the upper reaches, but they are not moving out,” the residents said.

· ATROCITIES TRIGGER PROTEST IN HAJAN

HAJAN, May 13: Residents of Hajan in north Kashmir's Bandipore district staged massive protests against what they termed "reign of terror unleashed" by pro-government gunmen. 

Locals said the pro-government gunmen are on prowl in the area and have made their lives miserable. "For past fortnight veiled gunmen posing as militants are barging into the houses and are demanding food and shelter," the locals said. 

They said on May 8 night pro-government gunmen intruded into three houses in Parray Mohalla and sought shelter. "After the residents let them in, they severely beat up head of the families and took them along," the locals added. 

As the word about the incident spread in the area this morning, residents raising anti-India and anti troops slogans took to the roads and staged a sit-in demanding the whereabouts of the men who were taken along by the gunmen. "These people (pro-government gunmen) enjoy the Army's patronage," shouted the protesters. 

· COP SUSPENDED AFTER THRASHING DRIVER

May 16: A policeman was placed under suspension on May 16 after he severely beat up a Sumo driver in Shangas area of south Kashmir’s Islamabad district. 

Fayaz Ahmed Rather, the driver, was beaten to pulp by the policeman for parking his vehicle outside the police station, eyewitnesses said. They said the people intervened and rescued the driver. He was later rushed to a hospital. 

A police official told that the cop has been suspended

· SOG TORTURED ME: IMAM OF BATAMALOO MOSQUE

SRINAGAR, May 17: An Imam of Shahi-Hamdan Masjid, Batmaloo said the infamous Special Operations Group of police have been harassing him for the past many days. 

 
Moulvi Muhammad Maqbool told, “I was arrested by policemen from Shaheed Gunj Police Station last week and then shifted to SOG camp at cargo complex.” 

The Imam said before setting him free the SOG personnel tortured him.

· CUSTODIAL DEATHS CONTINUE IN KASHMIR: AMNESTY

               ‘38 DISAPPEARANCES, 22 EXTRA JUDICIAL KILLINGS IN 2006’

NEW DELHI, May 23: “Some six deaths in custody, 38 enforced disappearances including several juveniles, and 22 extra judicial killings were reported in 2006. Identity-based attacks by Islamist fighters continued,” said the 2007 report themed “Politics of Fear Creating a Dangerously Divided World” of Amnesty International. 

The 340-page survey—which had a polycentric people’s launch across 12 cities in India—said the authorities failed to provide information about the whereabouts of disappeared people to their families. 

· PROTEST IN BANDIPORA AGAINST TORTURE, DISAPPEARANCE

May 24: People held protest demonstrations and staged a sit in front of Deputy Commissioner's (DC) office in Bandipora against the alleged inhuman treatment meted out to a 35-year-old laborer and the disappearance of a person. 


Reports from Bandipora said that the shopkeepers also observed strike in protest of these incidents. Reports said that the army personnel during a raid arrested a labourer Khoshal Khatana, son of Mohammad Akbar. 

 
Reports said that the residents got infuriated this morning when they saw the condition of Khatana who according to the reports, was subjected to "inhuman treatment" by the army personnel. They started raising slogans against the army when they saw Khatana in a miserable condition. Reports added that the protestors, who were hundreds in number, took Khatana on a stretcher and started marching towards the DC office. They ultimately observed a sit in outside the DC office. 

The protestors said that one more person Anwar Khan, son of Jalil Khan, who was arrested along with Khatana, has "disappeared" in army custody. They alleged that army has "let loose a reign of terror" in the area.

· CLASS VI STUDENT MISSING

May 24: A 6th standard student is missing since May 22 from Rambagh area in Srinagar. 

 
Identified as Tariq Ahmad Khan alias Junaid Ahmad, son of Manzoor Ahmad of Kakapora, Pulwama, presently putting up at Rambagh Bala, Srinagar had gone out to purchase bread. But he did not return and is missing. His whereabouts are not known. 

· MAN SHOT DEAD IN GANDOH

May 25: Suspected militants shot dead a local labourer at Gandoh area of Doda district on May 24.

Defence spokesman said that the labourer identified as Mohammad Latief, 36, son of Mohammad Ibrahim was shot dead outside his residence in Champal village, under the Gandoh police station, late last evening at 11 PM.

He sustained bullet injury in his abdomen and right hand. He succumbed to his wounds while being shifted to the Gandoh Hospital.

Sources, however, said that he was police informer and he use to give information about the movement of militants to his brother Abdul Qadir who is in STF.

· MINOR GIRL KIDNAPPED BY CRPF SI

May 25: A sub inspector of Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) allegedly kidnapped a minor girl from Mohalla Vasak Dera in Bhaderwah tehsil of district Doda since May 18, 2007.

 A case under FIR No. 80 of 2007 under section 363, 109, and 342 RPC has been registered against him in police station Bhaderwah on May 25.

The accused SI of CRPF has been identified as Sunil Kumar, son of Daya Krishan of Balote Chinta Bhaderwah presently posted in Srinagar. 

  
Police said that the accused SI went to the house of forest guard Rajinder Kumar on May 18, 2007 and took his 16 years old daughter Anita Devi on pretext of going to the market.    

Since then both of them not returned to village and family members of the victim lodged a complaint against the CRPF personnel.

· IED BLAST INJURES THREE SOLDIERS

May 31: Three paramilitary BSF troopers were injured in an IED explosion in north Kashmir Baramulla district. 

    
Three paramilitary BSF troopers were injured when suspected militants targeted their vehicle by detonating a powerful Improvised Explosive Device (IED) near Sheikh Mohalla, Sopore on May 31 morning.  


Hizbul-Mujahideen has claimed responsibility for the blast.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· PROGRESSIVE DECLINE IN MILITANCY RELATED VIOLENCE: JAISWAL

JAMMU, May 16: The Union Minister of State for Home, Sriprakash Jaiswal informed Rajya Sabha that as per the reports of the Jammu & Kashmir Government, there has been a progressive decline in terrorist related violence over the years. He said that while 2565 terrorist related violent incidents took place in the Year 2004, 1990 such incidents took place in year 2005 and 1667 incidents in the year 2006. He said that 211 incidents took place during the period January to March 2007 compared to 295 such incidents during the correspondent period of last year. 

· 120 ULTRAS INFILTRATE INTO J&K SINCE APRIL

 JAMMU, May 21: According to government reports, 80 militants managed to infiltrate into Indian territory from across the Line of Control (LoC) into the State in April this year after snow started melting by first week of the month. In May so far, 40 militants have intruded into this side successfully taking total number of infiltrators from April 1 to till date to 120.

· ARMY READY TO VACATE ORCHARDS

SRINAGAR, May 21: The army authorities informed the state Government on May 21, that they were prepared to vacate orchards and other agricultural lands, occupied by troops if suitable alternate accommodation was provided to them. 

· ‘VIOLENCE ON DECLINE IN JK’

May22: The situation in Jammu and Kashmir has improved considerably with incidents of violence, killings and kidnappings of people registering a significant decline, said a Government report released by Prime Minister Manmohan Singh at New Delhi.

· NO NORMALCY YET: JUNIOR DEFENCE MINISTER 

May 25: Union Minister of State for Defence M. M. Pallam Raju said normalcy hasn't been restored in Kashmir yet as army was still present. The situation hasn't improved as can be gauged from the presence of army, but there will be a time when troops will be withdrawn from the valley, Pallam Raju said. 

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF MAY 2007

	DATE 
	TROOPERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	May 1 
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 2
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 3
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 4
	1
	1
	-
	1 dead body recovered 

	May 5
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 6
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 7
	-
	1
	-
	1 dead body recovered

	May 8
	2
	2
	-
	-

	May 9
	5
	-
	1
	-

	May 10
	-
	-
	-
	1 dead body recovered

	May 11
	4
	-
	-
	-

	May 12
	-
	2
	-
	-

	May 13
	-
	3
	-
	-

	May 14
	-
	1
	1
	-

	May 15
	-
	-
	-
	1 militant guide

	May 16
	-
	1
	1
	-

	May 17
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 18
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 19
	2
	-
	-
	-

	May 20
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 21
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 22
	1
	7
	1
	-

	May 23
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 24
	-
	1
	-
	-

	May 25
	-
	-
	-
	1 troops informer

	May 26
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 27
	-
	2
	-
	-

	May 28
	-
	2
	1
	-

	May 29
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 30
	1
	4
	-
	-

	May 31
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Total
	21
	31
	5
	5

	                                                              Total 
	62


	Date
	Custodial Killings / EJE
	Women Killed 
	Children Killed 
	Alleged Disappearances 

	May 10
	-
	-
	1
	-

	May 28
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Total
	0
	1
	1
	0



CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS IN THE MONTH OF MAY 2007
May 1: One personnel of Special Operation Group (SOG) of police was killed in an encounter with militants in Kupwara district.
May 2: Two government PHE employees received bullet injuries when CRPF personnel posted at highly guarded Kot Bhalwal jail, Jammu went on a shooting spree. 

May 3: A CRPF driver of 173 BN died when a rifle went off accidentally.  

May 4: One HM militant and one trooper died in an encounter at Kupwara while a dead body was recovered from Chowkibal, Kupwara. 

May 5: No incident of killing reported.

May 6: Three activist of National Congress including a woman were injured when some unknown persons suspected to be the militants attacked  the rally with grenade at Namil, Anantnag.

May 7: One HM militant killed in Doda while a dead body was recovered from river Jehlum. 

May 8: Two militants and two RR soldiers were killed in an encounter at Kupwara district. 

May 9: Five militants and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

May 10: Body of a 15 year-old boy was recovered from nallah Puhroo near Bumhama, Kupwara.
May 11: Four soldiers of 7 Para were killed in an encounter in the state. 

May 12: Two HM militants were killed in an encounter in Sopore area of Baramulla district. 

May 13: Three HM militants were killed in an encounter with troops and state police in Marwah area of Kishtwar district. 

May 14: One LeT militant and an Imam were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state.
May 15: One militant guide killed by troops in Budhal area of Rajouri.

May 16: One civilian killed while two others injured when troops opened fire upon them. While one LeT militant killed in an encounter with troops.  

May 17: An army jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service gun inside Core Headquarters at Nagrota. 

May 18: No incident of violence reported.

May 19: Two soldiers were killed (One in an encounter at Baramulla and the other committed suicide).  

May 20: A soldier finished his life by committing suicide. 

May 21: Three policemen injured in a grenade explosion at Nagni, Kishtwar. 

May 22: Seven militants and one trooper were killed in separate incidents of violence in Pulwama district. While a civilian was killed by the SOG.
May 23: Seven policemen injured in militant attack in Poonch district.

May 24: One militant killed in an encounter with troops at Kupwara. 

May 25: One alleged army informer shot dead by the militants in Gandoh, Jammu.  

May 26: One army personnel killed in an encounter with militants in Mendhar area of Poonch district. 

May 27: Two militants were killed in an encounter with troops in Kupwara. 

May 28: Two militants and a woman were killed in separate incidents of violence across the valley.

May 29: No incident reported. 
May 30: Three infiltrating militants were killed in Poonch district. In another encounter, one militant was killed in north Kashmir’s Bandipora district while a DSP was killed in an encounter with militants in Jammu’s Doda district.  

May 31: Four militants including two HM militants were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state while three soldiers of BSF injured in  an IED blast.

WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED


May 10: Dead body of a 15 year-old boy Ishfaq Ahmad,son of Abdul Gaffar Mir of Payerpora was recovered from nallah Puhroo near Bumhama, Kupwara.


May 28: Unidentified gunmen killed a woman namely Shahina Akhtar at Waghama-Bijbehara. 
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